IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case Nos: SC04-40/SC04-41

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

V.

JOHN ROBERT PAPE and MARC ANDREW CHANDLER,

Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF COMPLAINANT

On Review of Final Order of Referee

Barry Richard M. Hope Keating Greenberg Traurig, P.A. 101 East College Avenue Post Office Drawer 1838 Tallahassee, FL 33302

TABLES OF CONTENTS

Table of C	itationsii
Statement	of the Case and of Facts1
Summary	of Argument2
Argument	4
I.	Standard of Review4
II.	The Referee Erred in Finding that
	Respondents' Advertisements Do Not
	Violate Rule 4-7.2(b)(4) and 4-7.2(b)(3)
	Of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar4
Ш.	The Referee Erred in Finding that

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF FACTS

Since June 2001, Respondents John Robert Pape and Marc Andrew Chandler have run television commercials advertising the law firm of Pape & Chandler. [A:1 at 53]¹ In the advertisements, Respondents encourage accident victims to call their toll free telephone number 1-800-PIT-BULL. [A:1 at 19-20] The advertisements also display as Respondents' logo the head of a pit bull wearing a spiked collar. [A:1 at 19]

Following a finding of probable cause by a grievance committee, The Florida Bar filed complaints against Respondents, alleging that the television advertisements violate Rules 4-7.2(b)(3) and 4-7.2(b)(4) of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar. [A:2] Proceedings were held before a referee who found that: (i) the television advertisements are constitutionally protected commercial free speech; (ii) the television advertisements do not violate the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar; and (iii) The Florida Bar's prosecution under Rules 4-7.2(b)(3) and 4-7.2(b)(4) unconstitutionally applies those Rules in violation of Respondents' rights of commercial free speech. [A:3 at 3-4] The Florida Bar timely filed this appeal.

-

Appendices are abbreviated in this brief by appendix number and page as follows: [A:1 at__.]

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The use in a lawyer's advertisement of a picture of a spiked-collar pit bull and the telephone number 800-PIT-BULL provides the consumer with nothing of informational value and is designed to convey the idea that the lawyer engages in tactics that are considered unprofessional and that are prohibited in practice. Because such tactics are prohibited, the suggestion that the lawyer can engage in them is inherently misleading in violation of Rule 47.2(b)(4). Moreover, the use of reference to a pit bull is intended to describe or characterize the lawyer's services in violation Rule 4-7.2(b)(3).

The referee's distinction between the characteristics of a lawyer and of a lawyer's legal services for advertising purposes makes no sense and serves no purpose. For purposes of advertising for legal business, a lawyer's personal traits and the traits attributable to his or her legal services are indistinguishable.

There is no constitutional prohibition on regulating commercial speech that is more likely to deceive the public than inform it. The possibility of deception in using pit bulls in lawyer advertising is self-evident. In any event, the Bar's regulation of Respondents' advertisements satisfies the *Central Hudson* test for the regulation of commercial speech. The application of Rules 4-7.2(b)(3) and 4-7.2(b)(4) to Respondents directly

advances the Bar's substantial interests in (i) regulating lawyer advertising and ensuring that the public has access to helpful, relevant information that is not misleading to assist in the comparison and selection of attorneys; and (ii) in ensuring that the public's confidence in the legal system is not diminished. The Bar's regulation of the advertisements by only disallowing the references to pit bulls is narrowly tailored to achieve the desired objective.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

A referee's findings of fact in attorney disciplinary proceedings are reviewed under a clearly erroneous standard. *E.g., The Florida Bar v. Della-Donna*, 583 So. 2d 307 (Fla. 1989). However, a referee's conclusions of law are not given the same presumption of correctness afforded to a referee's findings of fact. *The Florida Bar v. Trazenfeld*, 833 So. 2d 734 (Fla. 2002).

II. The Referee Erred in Finding that Respondents' Advertisements
Do Not Violate Rule 4-7.2(b)(4) and 4-7.2(b)(3) of the Rules
Regulating the Florida Bar

At the time the Florida Bar's Complaint was filed, Rule 4-7.2(b)(4) of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar provided:

Prohibited Visual and Verbal Portrayals. Visual or verbal descriptions, depictions, or portrayals of persons, things, or events must be objectively relevant to the selection of an attorney and shall not be deceptive, misleading, or manipulative.

R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-7.2(b)(4).²

² Rule 4-7.2(b)(4) has since been amended to remove the phrase "must be objectively relevant to the selection of an attorney." *Amendment to the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar*, 875 So. 2d 448, 511 (Fla. 2004). It is the Florida Bar's position that this amendment should have no effect on the outcome of these proceedings.

The referee found that by using the 1-800-PIT-BULL telephone number and the logo of a pit bull wearing a spiked collar Respondents certainly wanted to analogize their qualities with the qualities of a pit bull or else they wouldn't have used them. [A:1 at 66] However, in finding that the Respondents' television advertisements do not violate Rule 4-7.3(4), the referee stated that:

The qualities that are depicted by the logo and the telephone number are objectively relevant to the selection of an attorney as they are informational, because these are qualities that a consuming public would want in a trial lawyer; someone who is aggressive, tenacious, loyal, and persistent, and the ad is not improperly manipulative . . .

[A:3 at 2]

Rather than focus on what image the Respondents are trying to project by using the depictions of pit bulls, the referee instead selectively focused on particular traits of the pit bull that are not those generally identified with the breed and that are certainly not those intended to be conveyed by Respondents.

The Florida Bar has no quarrel with the fact that pit bulls may have positive qualities.³ However, the issue in this matter is what image

⁻

³ The Bar conceded in interrogatories that pit bulls may embody positive traits such as being "loyal" and "determined." The Bar also advocated in its motion for summary judgment and at the hearing the negative aspects of pit bulls and the public's perception of pit bulls as vicious animals. [A:1 at 20-

Respondents are trying to project by associating themselves with pit bulls. The Bar submits that the reality of the matter is that Respondents do not use a 1-800-PIT-BULL telephone number and a pit bull logo showing a pit bull wearing a spiked collar for the purpose of associating themselves with the positive traits of pit bulls, such as "loyalty." The obvious purpose of showing a pit bull wearing a spiked collar is to demonstrate extreme aggressiveness and viciousness. A spiked collared pit bull is the quintessential icon for demonstrating those traits. If Respondents had wanted to project themselves as loyal or tenacious or persistent, most certainly they would have chosen some other logo than a pit bull in a spiked collar.

The referee makes much of the fact that the Bar failed to introduce into evidence surveys or studies of the public's perception of pit bulls. [A:1 at 13, 33, 34, 67, 68, 105, 106]. However, surveys, or the equivalent evidence are not required where the misleading and deceptive nature of an advertisement is self-evident. *Zauderer v. Office of Disciplinary Counsel of the Supreme Court of Ill.*, 471 U.S. 626, 652-53 (1985). *See also The Florida Bar v. Elster*, 770 So. 2d 1184 (Fla. 2000) (holding that even if there

^{26, 33, 39].} To this end, at the hearing Bar counsel introduced into evidence the Miami-Dade County ordinance making it illegal to sell, purchase, obtain, or bring into Miami-Dade County a pit bull and otherwise heavily regulating the ownership of pit bulls. [A:4].

is no evidence that the public has actually been misled, advertisement is still in violation of bar rules if it is inherently misleading).

In *Zauderer*, the Court upheld a state's requirement that an attorney advertising his availability on a contingent-fee basis disclose that clients will have to pay costs even if their lawsuits are unsuccessful. 471 U.S. at 652. In reviewing the advertisement at issue, the Court noted that it made no mention of the distinction between "legal fees" and "costs." In finding that it was not necessary for the state to conduct a survey to show that the public could not distinguish between "fees" and "costs" the Court stated that:

The assumption that substantial numbers of potential clients would be so misled is hardly a speculative one: it is commonplace that members of the public are often unaware of the technical meanings of such terms as 'fees' and 'costs' – terms that, in ordinary usage, might well be virtually interchangeable. When the possibility of deception is as self-evident as it is in this case, we need not require the State to 'conduct a survey of the public before it [may] determine that the [advertisement] had a tendency to mislead.'

Id. at 652-53 (internal citations ommitted).

In the case at bar, no surveys or studies are required to show that a spiked-collared pit bull is likely to convey to many members of the public the negative qualities traditionally associated with such an image. One need look no further than the dictionary to understand what that term "pit bull" commonly means in American culture. A pit bull is "one who behaves in a

markedly aggressive or ruthless manner." American Heritage Dictionary (4th ed. 2000). *See also* American Heritage College Dictionary (3d ed. 1993) (defining pit bull as "marked by or exhibiting great aggression, ruthlessness, and often bitterness").

An internet search using the term "pit bull attack" uncovers story upon story of brutal pit bull attacks upon humans in this country. Further, the vicious and savage nature of pit bulls has been consistently documented in case law in Florida and around the country. E.g., Clark v. State, 632 So. 2d 88, 89 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994) (alleged deadly weapon was pit bull), overruled on other grounds, 669 So. 2d 1085 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996); Giaculli v. Bright, 584 So. 2d 187, 189 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) ("[p]it bulls as a breed are known to be extremely aggressive and have been bred as attack animals"); State v. Peters, 534 So. 2d 760, 764, 765 n. 6 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988) (reviewing ordinance setting forth the traits of pit bulls including "extremely powerful jaws, a high sensitivity to pain . . . a natural tendency to refuse to

_

⁴ Florida case law is replete with cases involving attacks and maulings by pit bulls. *E.g., Florida Residential Property & Casualty Joint Underwriting Assn. v. Anthony*, 842 So. 2d 951 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003); *Philbin v. American States Ins. Co.*, 729 So. 2d 484 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999); *White v. Whitworth*, 509 So. 2d 378 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987); *Vasques v. Rocha*, 509 So. 2d 1241 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987); *Ward v. Young*, 504 So. 2d 528 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987); *American States Ins. Co. v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 484 So. 2d 1363 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986); *Anderson v. Walthal*, 468 So. 2d 291 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985); *Carter v. City of Stuart*, 433 So. 2d 669 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), *approved*, 468 So. 2d 955 (Fla. 1985); *Manucy v. Manucy*, 362 So. 2d 478 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978).

terminate an attack once it has begun; and . . . a greater propensity to bite humans than all other breeds" and pointing out that a pit bull's massive jaws can "crush a victim with up to . . . 2,000 pounds of pressure per square inch - three times that of a German Shepherd or Doberman Pinscher, making the Pit Bull's jaws the strongest of any animal per pound"; quoting testimony that pit bulls will "bite like a shark, will bite and lock, and will not release, and if it does, whatever it bites, its going to keep in its mouth"; taking note of newspapers and television news programs reporting brutal attacks), rev. denied, 542 So. 2d 1334 (Fla 1989); Matthews v. Amberwood Assocs. Lmt. Partnership, Inc., 351 Md. 544, 561 (Md. 1998) ("the extreme dangerousness of [pit bulls] . . . is well recognized"); Dog Fed'n of Wis. v. City of South Milwaukee, 504 N.W.2d 375, 381 (Wis. Ct. App. 1993) ("the most prominent difference between the pit bull terrier and other breeds is its capability of inflicting very serious damage"), rev. denied, 508 N.W. 2d 423 (Wis. 1993); State v. Anderson, 566 N.E. 2d 1224 (Ohio 1991) (upholding statute stating that pit bull is prima facie evidence of ownership of a vicious dog), cert. denied, 501 U.S. 1257 (1991); Garcia v. Village of Tijeras, 767 P.2d 355, 359 (N.M. Ct. App. 1988) (pit bulls possess "inherent characteristics of . . . viciousness and unpredictability not found in any other breed of dog"), cert. denied, 765 P.2d 758 (N.M. 1988); Hearn v. City of Overland Park, 772 P.2d 758, 765, 768 (Kan. 1989) ("pit bulls are both more aggressive and destructive than other dogs. . . . [p]it bulls possess a strongly developed 'kill instinct' not shared by other breeds . . . pit bull dogs represent a unique public health hazard not presented by other . . . dogs [p]it bull dogs possess both the capacity for extraordinary savage behavior . . . this capacity for uniquely vicious attacks is coupled with an unpredictable nature"; noting that of 32 human deaths in the United States due to dog attacks between 1983 and 1989, 23 were caused by pit bulls), cert. denied; 493 U.S. 976 (1989); Starkey v. Township of Chester, 628 F. Supp. 196, 197 (E.D. Pa. 1986) (finding that the township could reasonably determine that pit bulls are dangerous; noting that a pit bull "bites to kill without signal").

Moreover, because of the unique danger perceived by many to be posed by pit bulls, many local governments have singled out pit bulls by enacting ordinances to control or ban the breed in their communities, and courts have upheld these ordinances because the inherent viciousness of pit bulls provides a rational basis for the regulations. See, e.g., American Dog Owners Ass'n v. Dade County, 728 F. Supp. 1533 (S.D. Fla. 1989); Peters, 534 So. 2d at 760; Dog Fed'n of Wis., 504 N.W. 2d at 423; Holt v. City of Maumelle, 817 S.W.2d at 208 (Ark. 1991); Colorado Dog Fanciers, Inc. v.

_

⁵ *See* Miami-Dade County ordinance introduced into evidence at the hearing. [A:4]

City and County of Denver, 820 P.2d at 644 (Colo. 1991); American Dog Owners Ass'n, Inc. v. City of Des Moines, 469 N.W.2d at 416 (Iowa 1991); Garcia, 767 P.2d at 355; Greenwood v. North Salt Lake City, 817 P.2d 816 (Utah 1991); City of Richardson v. Responsible Dog Owners of Tex., 794 S.W.2d 17 (Tex. 1990); American Dog Owners Ass'n v. City of Yakima, 777 P.2d 1046 (Wash. 1989); Hearn, 772 P.2d at 758; Starkey, 628 F. Supp. at 196.

Whether or not a given pit bull or pit bulls in general are vicious is not the issue. The public's likely perception of the advertisements at issue is the issue. The ordinances imposed by municipalities across the country distinguishing pit bulls from other dog breeds and banning or regulating pit bulls reflect the common perception by the American public that pit bulls are inherently vicious, savage, overly aggressive, unrelenting and ruthless. These are the inherent characteristics of pit bulls projected by an illustration of a pit bull in a spiked collar. And these inherent characteristics of pit bulls are not relevant or acceptable characteristics for lawyers in the practice of law in the State of Florida.

As an advocate, a lawyer in Florida should "zealously" assert his or her client's position. Preamble, Ch. 4, R. Regulating Fla. Bar. However, a lawyer's obligation of zealous representation does not mean that a lawyer may harass and intimidate others. *Id.*; *The Florida Bar v. Buckle*, 771 So. 2d 1131 (Fla. 2000) (imposing discipline on an attorney for threatening, disparaging, intimidating and humiliating the opposing party). Over-zealousness in the legal profession is not acceptable. As this Court stated in *Buckle*:

Certainly, the principles underlying [the Rules of Professional Conduct of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar] include basic fairness, respect for others, human dignity, and upholding the quality of justice. Zealous advocacy cannot be translated to mean win at all costs, and although the line may be difficult to establish, standards of good taste and professionalism must be maintained while we support and defend the role of counsel in proper advocacy. . . [a] lawyer's obligation of zealous representation should not and cannot be transformed into a vehicle intent upon harassment and intimidation.

771 So. 2d at 1134. *See also The Florida Bar v. Martocci*, 791 So. 2d 1074 (Fla. 2001) (finding that attorney crossed the line from that of zealous advocacy to unethical misconduct in making remarks to belittle and humiliate opposing party and counsel).

Attorneys in Horida may not elevate the perceived duty of zealous representation over all other professional duties. *Plant v. Doe*, 19 F. Supp. 2d 1316 (S.D. Fla. 1998); *Lingle v. Dion*, 776 So. 2d 1073 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001); *Visoly v. Security Pacific Credit Corp.*, 768 So. 2d 482 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000); *Carnival Corp. v. Beverly*, 744 So. 2d 489 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999);

Sanborn v. State, 474 So. 2d 309 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985); Sanchez v. Sanchez, 435 So. 2d 347 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983). In fact, all attorneys in Florida take an oath to "abstain from all offensive personality." [A:5]

Therefore, while zealousness and aggressiveness are acceptable professional qualities for attorneys in Florida, ⁶ those traits perceived by many as being inherent in pit bulls such as viciousness, savage behavior, and extreme aggressiveness, are not. Consequently, advertisements that suggest that a lawyer, if hired, can and will utilize tactics involving such behavior are inherently misleading.⁷

Further, the television advertisements containing the 1-800-PIT-BULL telephone number and the logo of the pit bull wearing the spiked collar are misleading because they are subjective statements of the quality of Respondents and their legal services. In determining whether lawyer

_

Note that in May 2001 the Florida Bar issued a preliminary opinion regarding two of Respondents' television scripts which contained the words "very aggressive." [A:6] However, the scripts submitted to the Bar by Respondent did not contain the 1-800-PIT-BULL telephone number or the pit bull logo. [A:7] The Bar stated in its preliminary opinion that a final opinion would be issued once the final transcripts and a copy of the television advertisements on video cassette were submitted for review. Respondents never submitted the final transcripts or the video cassette to the Bar for review.

⁷ Even if the pit bull connotation is deemed to be only an exaggeration of the types of lawyers or legal services that Respondents offer, such exaggeration is also a violation of Rule 47.2(b)(4). *See* Comment to Rule 4-7.2(b)(4).

advertisements are misleading, the United States Supreme Court has distinguished subjective statements of opinion or quality of a lawyer's services from statements of objective and verifiable facts that may support an inference of quality.

In *Peel v. Attorney Registration and Disciplinary Comm'n of Ill.*, 496 U.S. 91 (1990), the Supreme Court reviewed a lawyer's letterhead upon which he advertised his certification as a trial specialist by the National Board of Trial Advocacy (NBTA). The Court stated that:

In evaluating petitioner's claim of certification, the Illinois Supreme Court focused not on its facial accuracy, but on its implied claim 'as to the quality of [petitioner's] legal services,' and concluded that such a qualitative claim 'might be so likely to mislead as to warrant restriction.' This analysis confuses the distinction between statements of opinion or quality and statements of objective facts that may support an inference of quality. A lawyer's certification by NBTA is a verifiable fact, as are the predicate requirements for that certification. Measures of trial experience and hours of continuing education, like information about what schools the lawyer attended or his or her bar activities, are facts about a lawyer's training and practice. A claim of certification is not an unverifiable opinion of the ultimate quality of a lawyer's work or a promise of success, but is simply a fact, albeit one with multiple predicates, from which a consumer may or may not draw an inference of the likely quality of an attorney's work in a given area of practice.

Peel, 496 U.S. at 100-101 (internal citations omitted)

In Zauderer, the Supreme Court reviewed an advertisement of a lawyer who was publicizing his willingness to represent women suffering injuries from the use of the Dalkon Shield intrauterine device (IUD). The advertisement featured an illustration of an IUD. The Court found that the illustration of the IUD was an accurate representation of the Dalkon Shield, and had no features that were likely to deceive, mislead, or confuse the reader. The Court stated:

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