IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case Nos.: SC04-40/SC04-41

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

V.

JOHN ROBERT PAPE and MARC ANDREW CHANDLER,

Respondents.

 ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS
On Review of Amended Final Order of Referee

John Robert Pape Marc Andrew Chandler One Financial Plaza, Suite 2210 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33394-0063 Pro Se

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

From Staff to Counsel," *Washington Post*, November 18, 2004. Clearly, the characteristics that President Bush attributes to the American Pit Bull Terrier are traits that he seeks and finds desirable in an attorney.

Curiously, in support of its argument that Judge Herring's findings relative to Rule 4-7.2(b)(4) were erroneous, Complainant offers an entirely new theory that it never presented to the referee. From the beginning of discovery through the trial, Complainant's sole claim regarding this particular rule was that Respondents' logo and telephone number ran afoul of Rule 4-7.2(b)(4) because they were manipulative in that they appealed to the emotions of potential consumers. In a sudden aboutface, Complainant, in its Initial Brief, makes no mention of the only argument that it presented to Judge Herring. Instead, Complainant, in an attempt to take yet another bite at the apple, has turned its attention to an entirely new unsubstantiated argument—that the logo and telephone number are deceptive and misleading.

In the Interrogatories, Respondents asked Complainant the following direct, uncomplicated question: "Describe in detail how the telephone number ending in PIT-BULL is 'not objectively relevant to the selection of an attorney' and is 'deceptive, misleading, or manipulative' in violation of rule 4-7.2(b)(4) of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar." In addition, Respondents posed the exact same interrogatory in relation to the logo. [A:2 at 6-7].

In response to those two interrogatories, Complainant offered the exact conclusory testimony: "The designation of the word PIT-BULL in the telephone number is not objectively relevant because it is not informational and it is manipulative because it appeals to the emotions of the consumer as the pitt-bull (sic) is commonly perceived as aggressive, unrelenting, loyal and determined." [A:2 at 6-7].

Complainant now claims erroneous Judge Herring's finding that the logo and telephone number are objectively relevant and not manipulative in violation of Rule 4-7.2(b)(4) because the qualities depicted by the logo and telephone number are qualities that a consuming public would want in a trial lawyer; someone who is aggressive, tenacious, loyal, and persistent. [A:5 at 2]. How Complainant can argue to this Court that the referee erred in his finding when Complainant swore to the same traits in its answers to interrogatories is mind-boggling.

The only evidence presented to Judge Herring on this issue was

Complainant's interrogatory answers. Everything else was argument of counsel.

Now, Complainant has the audacity to claim that "the referee selectively focused on particular traits of the pit bull that are not those generally identified with the breed and that are certainly not those intended to be conveyed by Respondents." Initial Brief at 5. Judge Herring focused on those traits, in part, because those are the

traits that Complainant swore violated Rule 4-7.2(b)(4) in its answers to interrogatories.

Most notably, Complainant did not testify that the telephone number or logo are deceptive or misleading. The subject rule expressly forbids images that are "deceptive, misleading, or manipulative." In its interrogatory answers, Complainant consciously ignored the deceptive and misleading prongs of Rule 4-7.2(b)(4) and testified only that the logo and telephone number were manipulative. Therefore, Judge Herring was correct in focusing the majority of his attention on whether or not the logo and telephone number were impermissibly manipulative in violation of the rule. That Complainant now sees fit to argue a new theory to this Court (i.e., that the logo and telephone number are deceptive and misleading) that it did not present to Judge Herring, and in the same breath claims that Judge Herring erred in not ruling in its favor on issues that it did not place before him, is farcical.

Even though Complainant did not present argument or evidence on the issue of whether or not the logo and telephone number were misleading or deceptive, Judge Herring made findings on those issues relative to Respondents' argument that the rules were applied unconstitutionally. Judge Herring found that "(t)he logo and telephone number are not misleading or deceptive, and the Florida Bar has made no record to the contrary, as to surveys or studies of the public." [A:5 at 2].

misleading or deceptive in violation of Rule 4-7.2(b)(4) when it never even broached those issues in front of Judge Herring. Complainant is merely attempting to re-try its accusations in this forum on wholly new grounds.

As Respondents argued in their Memorandum of Law in Support of Their Motion for Final Summary Judgment and at trial, all advertisements are manipulative in the sense that the advertiser is attempting to manipulate the audience into choosing his product or service. Judge Herring accepted this argument, when he made the finding that "all advertising, to be effective, is manipulative at some level." [A:5 at 2]. With this fact in mind, a rule that completely prohibits any manipulation of the audience would serve to abolish all advertising in contravention of United States Supreme Court precedent regulating commercial free speech. Therefore, there must be a sinister element to the manipulation that is proscribed by Rule 4-7.2(b)(4). Again, Judge Herring realized that fact when he ruled that the logo and telephone number are not "improperly manipulative." (Emphasis added). [A:5 at 2].

Neither the United States Supreme Court nor this Court has ever approved of state action that purports to ban commercial free speech because it manipulates the consumer by appealing to his emotions as Complainant proposed through its own testimony. First, that is an impossible standard to apply, as it is indefinable and so vague and indefinite that it defies consistent and uniform application or

enforcement. Quite simply, no competent arbiter exists to determine what appeals to the emotions of consumers. What may appeal to one consumer's emotions may not appeal to another's.

Second, if that were, indeed, a valid standard to ban commercial free speech, then any governing body could arbitrarily and capriciously ban any commercial speech that it did not like by merely making the nebulous assertion that the advertisement "appeals to the emotions of the consumer." For example, Complainant could attempt to prohibit a wheelchair bound attorney from appearing in his own advertisement because his mere presence could appeal to the emotions of large segments of the audience.

Further, Complainant made no allegations and offered no proof that Respondents used technical or clever manipulation in an attempt to deceive or mislead the public (*See The Florida Bar: Petition to Amend the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar—Advertising Issues*, 571 So.2d 451 (Fla. 1991) and *Amendments to the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar*, 762 So.2d at 399) or that the logo and telephone number are misleading in any other way. Judge Herring specifically noted in his final order that Complainant established no record whatsoever that the logo and telephone number were misleading or deceptive. [A:5 at 2]. Moreover, Judge Herring contrasted Complainant's non-existent evidence here with the specific

factual findings required by United States Supreme Court precedent to limit commercial free speech. *Id*.

Complainant hung its entire case on the hazy proffer that the telephone number and logo are "manipulative because (they) appeal to the emotions of the consumer as the pit bull is commonly perceived as aggressive, unrelenting, loyal and determined." Judge Herring had the discretion to determine that Complainant did not meet its burden of proof based on such a sparse and uncompelling proffer. This Court cannot allow Complainant to reach back into its bag of tricks yet again and argue a whole new theory after failing the first two times it prosecuted Respondents for use of their logo and telephone number.

Even if Judge Herring had accepted Complainant's conclusory and baseless testimony concerning the public's common perceptions and its purported emotional reactions and supposed susceptibility to manipulation by an innocuous logo and telephone number, he could not have ruled that this is the type of manipulation intended to be proscribed by the rule. In fact, Complainant's history in applying Rule 4-7.2(b)(4) told Judge Herring that Complainant has acknowledged repeatedly that images or portrayals that will, in fact, appeal to the emotions of enormous segments of consumers are not necessarily manipulative for purposes of the rule.

For instance, Complainant has determined that a picture of a woman straightening the clothes of two small children accompanied by the statement "Relocation: Is it in the Best Interest of the Child?" does not violate Rule 4-7.2(b)(4) in a family law advertisement (See Bar Ad File No. 00-00972). Clearly, that advertisement, which does not violate the subject rule, could appeal to the emotions of a huge segment of society (i.e., those families affected by divorce) to a much more significant degree than an innocuous telephone number and dog head logo ever could. What is most alarming is that Complainant knew that the referenced divorce advertisement that blatantly appeals to the emotions of a large set of consumers is permissible under the subject rule, yet it argued to Judge Herring that a drawing of a dog's head and a telephone number ending in PIT-BULL is impermissible solely because it appeals to the emotions of consumers. The visual in the divorce advertisement is permissible for the same reason that Respondents' logo and telephone number are—while they may or may not appeal to the emotions they are not misleading, deceptive or manipulative.

Other visual images that certainly could appeal to the emotions of some consumers, yet have been determined to be permissible under Rule 4-7.2(b)(4), are: a drawing of empty handcuffs (*See Bar Ad File No. 00-01167*)³; an illustration of a leg brace in a criminal law advertisement (*See Bar Ad File No. 00-00492*); a picture

of the Statue of Liberty (*See Bar Ad File No. 01-01334*); a picture of a family in a family owned business accompanied by the statement "Family Limited Partnerships: Succession Issues for the Family Business" (*See Bar Ad File No. 00-00972*).

Furthermore, as stated earlier Complainant permitted use of the spoken word "aggressive" to describe or characterize qualities possessed by Respondents'. If the use of a descriptive word is not deemed manipulative by the Complainant, it cannot be manipulative to use a telephone number that Complainant alleges symbolizes or is a manifestation of that same quality.

Given the evidence before him and Complainant's butchering of its own rule, Judge Herring's ruling regarding Respondents' alleged violations of Rule 4-7.2(b)(4) must stand.

V. Judge Herring was correct in ruling that Complainant's application of rules 4-7.2(b)(3) and 4-7.2(b)(4) in an attempt to prohibit Respondents from using their logo and telephone number was an unconstitutional restriction on Respondents' commercial free speech in violation of the First and Fourteenth Amendments to The Constitution of The United States of America

As Justice Kennedy eloquently stated when delivering the opinion of the Court in *Edenfield v. Fane*, "The commercial marketplace, like other spheres of

³ The Bar later filed a disciplinary proceeding against an attorney who used, in his advertisement, an illustration of handcuffs with hands in them. However, the Court determined that the

our social and cultural life, provides a forum where ideas and information flourish. Some of the ideas and information are vital, some of slight worth. But the general rule is that the speaker and the audience, not the government, assess the value of the information presented." *Edenfield v. Fane*, 507 U.S. 761, 767 (1993).

In *Bates v. State Bar of Arizona*, 433 U.S. 350 (1977), the United States Supreme Court decided that advertising by lawyers was a form of commercial speech entitled to protection by the First Amendment. Later, Justice Powell summarized the standards applicable to such claims for the unanimous Court in *In Re RMJ*, 455 U.S. 191, 203 (1982):

"Truthful advertising related to lawful activities is entitled to the protections of the First Amendment. But when the particular content or method of the advertising suggests that it is inherently misleading or when experience has proved that in fact such advertising is subject to abuse, the States may impose appropriate restrictions. Misleading advertising may be prohibited entirely. But the States may not place an absolute prohibition on certain types of potentially misleading information, e.g., a listing of areas of practice, if the information may be presented in a way that is not deceptive....Even when a communication is not misleading, the State retains some authority to regulate. But the State must assert a substantial interest and the interference with speech must be in proportion to the interest served." Peel v. Attorney Disciplinary Comm'n of Illinois, 496 U.S. 91, 100 (1990) (citing Justice Powell's decision in In Re RMJ).

illustration in question did not violate Rule 4-7.2(b)(4). See The Florida Bar v. Ostrow, No. SC 02-970 (Fla. March 11, 2003).

In the instant case, Complainant offered to Judge Herring no evidence that Respondents' logo or telephone number is false, misleading or deceptive. In fact, it never even made the argument that the logo or telephone number is false, misleading or deceptive. See [A:5 at 2]. Instead, Complainant attempted to curb Respondents' constitutionally-protected commercial speech under the color of Rule 4-7.2(b)(3) because it claimed that the logo and telephone number are intended to describe the advertising lawyers as aggressive, unrelenting, loyal and determined. And it has attempted to excise Respondents' speech under the auspices of Rule 4-7.2(b)(4) because it strangely alleged that the logo and telephone number are manipulative in that they appeal to the emotions of consumers who view pit bulls as aggressive, unrelenting, loyal and determined. Nowhere did Complainant allege or offer evidence that Respondents' challenged commercial speech is false, deceptive or misleading despite being asked to describe in detail the alleged violative nature of the speech in several specific interrogatories.

Where commercial speech concerns lawful activity and is not misleading, the speech is constitutionally protected and may only be restricted under prescribed circumstances. Having made no allegation and having offered no proof that Respondents' logo and telephone number are false, misleading or deceptive, Complainant had to satisfy the test enunciated by the Supreme Court in *Central Hudson Gas & Electric Corp. v. Public Comm'n of N.Y.*, 447 U.S. 557 (1980) in

order to lawfully restrict Respondents' commercial speech: (1) the government's interest at the base of the restriction must be substantial; (2) the restriction must directly and materially advance the asserted governmental interest; and (3) the restriction must be narrowly tailored to the governmental interest involved. *Central Hudson Gas & Electric Corp. v. Public Comm'n of N.Y.*, 447 U.S. 557, 563-66 (1980). As Judge Herring found, in contravention of the dictates of *Central Hudson* and its progeny, Complainant offered no evidence to support its proposed restriction of Respondents' commercial speech. [A:5 at 2].

A regulation will not be sustained if it "provides only ineffective or remote support for the government's purpose." *Ibanez v. Florida Dept. of Bus. & Prof. Reg.*, 512 U.S. 136 (1994) (citing *Central Hudson Gas & Electric v. Public Service Comm'n of N.Y.*, 447 U.S. 557, 564, 566 (1980)). Certainly, it cannot be sustained if, as here, the State offers **no** support and no evidence of a valid governmental purpose.

The State's burden is not slight; "mere speculation or conjecture" will not suffice; rather the State "must demonstrate that the harms it recites are real and that its restrictions will, in fact, alleviate them to a material degree." *Id.* (citing *Edenfield v. Fane*, 507 U.S. 761 (1993)). The "free flow of commercial information is valuable enough to justify imposing on would-be regulators the costs of distinguishing the truthful from the false, the helpful from the misleading, and the

harmless from the harmful." *Id.* (citing *Zauderer*, supra at 646); see also *Zauderer* v. *Office of Disciplinary Counsel*, 471 U.S. 626, at 648-649 (1985) (State's "unsupported assertions" insufficient to justify prohibition on attorney advertising).

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